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I. BY THE COMMISSION

A. Statement

1. By Decision No. R15-0061, issued on January 20, 2015 (Recommended Decision), the assigned Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) found that TJM Holdings LLC, doing business as ATS (ATS or Respondent), violated one count of Rule 6102(a)(I) of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6 and 49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) § 391.23(a)(2), and ten counts of Rule 6102(a)(I) and 49 CFR § 395.8(a), as alleged in Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 110542.  Through the Recommended Decision, the ALJ assessed civil penalties against ATS for violations alleged in CPAN No. 110542; ordered disqualification for five years from applying for future permits if the newly assessed civil penalties were not timely paid; and ordered ATS, its owner Tony Dassinger, and any company in which Tony Dassinger is or has been an owner, to cease and desist operating in Colorado as a motor carrier until certain provisions were met, including without limitation, payment of over $25,000 in outstanding civil penalties.   

2. On January 30, 2015, ATS filed a “Response to Staff’s Trial Brief,” contesting findings of fact in the Recommended Decision and requesting a payment plan to pay outstanding civil penalties.  On February 13, 2015, Staff of the Commission (Staff) filed a response opposing the requests made by ATS in its January 30, 2015, filing. 

3. We construe ATS’s January 30, 2015, filing as exceptions and deny the exceptions.  Further, we uphold the Recommended Decision with the following modification: (a) the disqualification to apply for future permits in the event the civil penalty assessed pursuant to CPAN No. 110542 is not paid by its due date shall be for three years, consistent with 
§ 40-10.1-304, C.R.S.; and (b) no new permits shall be issued to ATS, its owner Tony Dassinger, or any company owned or operated by Tony Dassinger, until all of the provisions of the cease and desist order are met.    

B. Background
4. Staff issued CPAN No. 110542 to ATS on October 20, 2014, for alleged violations occurring in August and September 2014.  The CPAN cites ATS for ten violations of 49 CFR § 395.8(a) as incorporated by Rule 6102(a)(I) of the Commission’s Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 CCR 723-6, which provides that all carriers shall require a driver to make a record of that driver’s duty status; and one violation of 49 CFR § 391.23(a)(2), which requires a carrier to investigate a driver’s safety performance history within 30 days of employment. The penalty for the violations plus the 10 percent surcharge imposed by 
§ 24-34-108, C.R.S., is $5,775.  At the time the CPAN was issued, ATS held two Limited Regulation Carrier Permits: Charter Scenic Bus Permit CSB-00201 and Children’s Activity Bus Permit CAB-00028.

5. ATS did not respond to the CPAN, which was sent via certified mail and was not returned to the Commission as undeliverable.  ATS did not attend the hearing held on December 16, 2014.

6. Staff presented evidence that ATS’s owner, Tony Dassinger, has a history of civil penalties and other infractions.
  In addition, Staff showed that civil penalties have been assessed against both Mr. Dassinger personally and against a former company owned and operated by Mr. Dassinger, Access Transportation Services.  As of the date of hearing, the civil penalties amounted to over $25,000 and have remained unpaid for more than a decade.
 

7. The ALJ found that ATS violated one count of Rule 6102(a)(I) and 49 CFR § 391.23(a)(2), and ten counts of Rule 6102(a)(I) and 49 CFR § 395.8(a), as alleged in CPAN No. 110542.  Through the Recommended Decision, the ALJ ordered: (a) ATS to pay within 30 days of the date the Recommended Decision becomes a Decision of the Commission, $5,775 for the civil penalty assessed, plus the mandatory surcharge imposed by § 24-34-108, C.R.S.; (b) if ATS fails to pay the $5,775 within the time prescribed, ATS, and any owner, principal, officer, member, partner, or director of ATS, shall be disqualified from applying for a permit for a period of five years following the due date of the civil penalty; and (c) ATS, its owner Tony Dassinger, and any company in which Tony Dassinger is or has been an owner, shall cease and desist from operating as a motor carrier until all drivers have full and complete driver files, proof of insurance or surety coverage has been filed with the Commission, all outstanding civil penalties have been paid, and evidence is supplied that all vehicles for any company owned by Tony Dassinger, or for Tony Dassinger personally, in service in intrastate commerce meet all operational and safety requirements under state and federal law.     

8. In making his findings, the ALJ noted that the welfare of the public is at stake with the safety and compliance review: “[i]t is through these reviews that the Commission can ensure the proper level of safety for all [of] those on the roads of Colorado.”  The ALJ further stated that he was “alarmed and appalled” by the history of violations and “apparent lack of concern for the safety of the public exhibited by the Respondent…” and that it is fortunate that the violations were discovered before any serious injury was caused by the actions of the Respondent.
  In addition to the civil penalties imposed in the instant proceeding, the September 2014 safety and compliance review that led to the civil penalties also resulted in five of Respondent’s vehicles being placed out of service for exhaust leaks, with two of the leaks directly leaking fumes into the passenger compartment.
 

9. On January 30, 2015, ATS filed a “Response to Staff’s Trial Brief.” ATS’s filing states: 

Respondent does acknowledge that penalties for the current CPAN as well as past CPAN[s] need to be paid. … I, Tony Allen Dassinger agree that I should be assessed the maximum penalty as I should have had a better inspection this last time. I do understand and [will] try to do better. 

10. ATS made attempts to show compliance with the terms of the cease and desist, including stating it had its insurance company file a Form E on January 21, 2015, and that it now has complete driver files. In addition, ATS argues it did not own all of the vehicles that showed safety violations in January 2014.
  ATS also requests the ability to pay the outstanding civil penalties in installments; however, a precise schedule is not proposed. 

11. Staff’s Response to ATS’s filing points out that ATS does not challenge the assessment of the penalties. Staff argues that ATS and Mr. Dassinger’s history of noncompliance, including non-payment of civil penalties, “demonstrated [Mr. Dassinger’s] disregard for the Commission’s authority,” and therefore no leniency should be granted in the form of an extended repayment schedule.  Staff also argues that ATS has not shown compliance with the terms of the cease and desist order.  In any event, Staff argues that, if the filing is construed as exceptions, exceptions should address ATS’s issues with the decision, not compliance with the Recommended Decision’s orders.
C. Findings on January 30, 2015, Filing
12. Pursuant to § 40-6-109, C.R.S., parties are permitted 20 days to file exceptions to a hearing officer’s decision.  While ATS’s January 30, 2015, filing was titled “Response to Staff Trial Brief,” it was filed within the 20-day time period allowed for exceptions to the Recommended Decision, issued January 20, 2015.  We construe the filing as exceptions pursuant to § 40-6-109, C.R.S., and consider the filing.

13. Within the filing, ATS does not contest that it should be charged the full civil penalties, nor does it contest the provisions of the cease and desist order; in fact, ATS represents that it is attempting to comply with the requirements of the cease and desist provisions so that it may continue to operate.  

14. ATS makes two substantive requests within its exceptions.  First, Mr. Dassinger, as the owner of ATS, states that he does not own certain buses that were inspected in January of 2014, including vehicles with plate nos. 614AQP and 107865L.  

15. Sections 40-6-113(2) and (4), C.R.S., in addition to Rule 1505(b), of the Commission Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 CCR 723-1, require that any party attempting to challenge the findings of fact of a hearing officer must request a transcript of the hearing and make citations to the contested issues.  If no transcript is requested pursuant to § 40-6-113, C.R.S., the findings of fact of the hearing officer are presumed conclusive.   ATS did not request a transcript pursuant to § 40-6-113, C.R.S., and the ALJ’s findings of fact are thus presumed conclusive.  To the extent ATS is challenging evidentiary findings of facts, including ownership of the buses, the requests are denied.  

16. In addition, the vehicles were placed out of service and violations did not contribute to the monetary penalties at issue in the CPAN.  ATS does not contest the conclusions of the ALJ, including the penalties assessed or the conditions of the cease and desist order; the request to revise findings of fact is immaterial to the outcome of this proceeding.  

17. In ATS’s second request, Mr. Dassinger, as the owner of ATS, states that he has been trying to comply with Commission rules and is attempting to comply with the cease and desist provisions.  Mr. Dassinger states that he wants to pay his prior fines and the newly assessed fine, and asks the Commission to make a “payment arrangement” for all outstanding civil penalties.  

18. Mr. Dassinger has a lengthy history of disregarding Commission rules, including rules that ensure the safety of the public.  It is unacceptable that a carrier with a Children’s Activity Bus permit could consistently attempt to operate buses that are lacking vital safety features.  In addition, Mr. Dassinger has a history of accumulating CPANs and not paying the civil penalties assessed.  We find this history of noncompliance makes Mr. Dassinger a poor candidate for leniency.  We therefore do not allow a payment plan for the outstanding civil penalties.  

19. The newly assessed penalty in the amount of $5,775, is due 30 days after this Decision is issued.  All other outstanding civil penalties are past due; the cease and desist order shall remain in effect until all conditions are met, including that all outstanding civil penalties are paid in full.
    

D. Modification to Recommended Decision
20. We uphold the Recommended Decision with two modifications.  First, the Recommended Decision states that disqualification from applying for future permits in the event the civil penalty assessed for violations alleged in CPAN No. 110542 is not paid timely, shall be for five years from the date the civil penalty is due. 

21. Section 40-10.1-304(1), C.R.S., enacted in 2013 by Senate Bill (SB) 13-189, states the Commission may:

[I]mmediately revoke the carrier’s permit and disqualify the carrier from applying for a permit … for three years after the date the fine or civil penalty is due.
 

We find that, for the violations in CPAN No. 110542 that occurred after the enactment of SB13-189, if ATS fails to pay the penalty of $5,775 imposed within the time 

22. prescribed for payment, ATS, and any owner, principal, officer, member, partner, or director of ATS, shall be disqualified from applying for a permit for a period of three years following the due date of the civil penalty, consistent with § 40-10.1-304, C.R.S.  This civil penalty assessed for violations alleged in CPAN No. 110542 is due no later than 30 days after this Decision is issued. 

23. In addition, the cease and desist order is currently in effect.  ATS, Tony Dassinger, and any company owned or operated by Mr. Dassinger, are not authorized to operate as a motor carrier in Colorado until all provisions of the cease and desist order are met.  No new permits shall be issued to ATS, Tony Dassinger, or any company owned or operated by him, absent compliance with the cease and desist provisions.  ATS argues it is attempting to comply with the cease and desist provisions in its January 30, 2015 filing.  For clarity, proof of compliance shall not be filed in this proceeding; any future application for a permit should demonstrate compliance with all cease and desist provisions.  Applications without proof of compliance are not complete and shall not be considered by the Commission. 
II. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:

1. We construe the filing made on January 30, 2015, by TJM Holdings LLC, doing business as ATS (ATS), as exceptions pursuant to § 40-6-109, C.R.S., and deny those exceptions, consistent with the discussion above. 

2. In the event that the civil penalty assessed in the amount of $5,775 for violation of Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 110542 is not paid within 30 days of this Decision being issued, ATS, any owner, principal, officer, member, partner, or director, shall be disqualified from applying for a permit for a period of three years following the due date of the civil penalty, consistent with § 40-10.1-304, C.R.S.  

3. The cease and desist order issued in Decision No. R15-0061 is effective; no new permits shall be issued to ATS, Tony Dassinger, or any company that is or has been owned or operated by Mr. Dassinger, without full compliance with the provisions of the cease and desist order.
4. The 20-day time period provided by § 40-6-114(1), C.R.S., to file an application for rehearing, reargument, or reconsideration shall begin on the first day after the Commission mails this Decision.
5. This Decision is effective upon its Mailed Date.

B. ADOPTED IN COMMISSIONERS’ WEEKLY MEETING 
March 11, 2015.
	(S E A L)
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Doug Dean, 
Director
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JOSHUA B. EPEL
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Commissioners




� These permits have since been revoked for failure to maintain proof of financial responsibility per Commission Rule 6007, 4 CCR 723-6, by Recommended Decision No. R14-1453, issued on December 11, 2014 in Proceeding No. 14C-1126-INS. ATS had no current permits at the time the Recommended Decision was issued in the instant proceeding on January 20, 2015.


� See Recommended Decision, ¶ 5 (stating that, at the December 16, 2015, hearing, “[t]he Respondent failed to appear.  A recess was taken to allow additional time for the Respondent to appear.  After a 15-minute recess the proceeding was called again and the Respondent again failed to appear.”).


� For example, Staff’s trial brief pointed out that in January 2014, ATS was subject to an inspection which found safety issues including defective emergency exits, multiple holes in an exhaust pipe, a depleted fire extinguisher, and lack of sufficient warning devices and emergency exits in two ATS vehicles. Though ATS was not subject to civil penalties as a result of the January inspection, the vehicles in question were placed out of service by transportation investigations and compliance staff at that time.  


� A penalty of $12,000 was assessed in Proceeding No. 00G-651CP against Access Transportation Services, Inc.; a penalty with a remaining balance of $1,400.00 was assessed against Mr. Dassinger personally in Proceeding No. 03G-428CP; and a penalty with a remaining balance of $11,900.00 was issued against Mr. Dassinger personally in Proceeding No. 05G-345CP. Those unpaid penalties have been turned over to Central Collections, which may assess additional charges and interest. 


� Recommended Decision, ¶¶ 56-57.


� Recommended Decision ¶ 33. 


� Though these violations did not lead to the monetary penalties of the instant CPAN, the vehicles in question were placed out of service in January, 2014.


� The filing was the first item considered at the March 11, 2015 Commissioner Weekly Meeting (CWM), starting at 9:00 a.m. The March 11, 2015 CWM agenda was noticed and issued publicly on March 5, 2015. At 9:29 a.m., March 11, 2015, ATS filed a document entitled “With draw [sic] of Exceptions” stating that the January 30, 2015, filing was not intended as exceptions, and ATS requests to withdraw the document titled “Response to Staff’s Trial Brief.” We deny this request as moot. By 9:29 a.m., March 11, 2015, the Commission had already considered the January 30, 2015, filing.  


� Full payment includes any additional fees or interest incurred, as may be assessed by Central Collections. 


� (Emphasis added). 
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